Eastern Kentucky University

# Encompass

**Online Theses and Dissertations** 

Student Scholarship

2023

# Urban And Rural Comparisons Of Attitudes Toward Medically Assisted Treatment For Pregnant And Postpartum Women With Oud In Appalachia

Anna Reeves Eastern Kentucky University, amreeves13@gmail.com

Follow this and additional works at: https://encompass.eku.edu/etd

Part of the Criminology Commons

# **Recommended Citation**

Reeves, Anna, "Urban And Rural Comparisons Of Attitudes Toward Medically Assisted Treatment For Pregnant And Postpartum Women With Oud In Appalachia" (2023). *Online Theses and Dissertations*. 801. https://encompass.eku.edu/etd/801

This Open Access Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Scholarship at Encompass. It has been accepted for inclusion in Online Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Encompass. For more information, please contact laura.edwards@eku.edu.

# URBAN AND RURAL COMPARISONS OF ATTITUDES TOWARD MEDICALLY ASSISTED TREATMENT FOR PREGNANT AND POSTPARTUM WOMEN WITH OUD IN APPALACHIA

BY

#### ANNA REEVES

## THESIS APPROVED:

2h

Chair, Advisory Committee

Docusigned by: Butsy Matthews 8144FOCEC5394D6... Member Advisor

Member, Advisory Committee

Kristie Blevins —D1CBE19EB47F4CE...

DocuSigned by:

Member, Advisory Committee

ty R. Baggeto

Dean, Graduate School

# STATEMENT OF PERMISSION TO USE

In presenting this thesis in partial fulfillment of the requirements for degree conferral at Eastern Kentucky University, I agree that the Library shall make it available to borrowers under rules of the Library. Brief quotations from the documents are allowable without special permission, provided that accurate acknowledgments of the source is made. Permission for extensive quotation from or reproduction of this document may be granted by my major professor in [his/her] absence, by the Head of Interlibrary Services when, in the opinion of either, the proposed use of the material is for scholarly purposes. Any copying or use of the material in this document for financial gain shall not be allowed without written permission.

Signature:

x Anna Pewes Date: 7/5/23

# URBAN AND RURAL COMPARISONS OF ATTITUDES TOWARD MEDICALLY ASSISTED TREATMENT FOR PREGNANT AND POSTPARTUM WOMEN WITH OUD IN APPALACHIA

 $\mathbf{B}\mathbf{Y}$ 

ANNA REEVES

Submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate School of

Eastern Kentucky University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

© Copyright by ANNA REEVES 2022 All Rights Reserved.

# DEDICATION

This thesis is dedicated to my late stepsister, Melissa Joy Carpenter, who lost her battle with addiction, and to her surviving children. Furthermore, I dedicate this thesis to those who have lost their lives to addiction, those who are currently fighting the battle to recover, and those who have fully recovered.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

My mother, grandmother, and therapist have uplifted me with their kind words and wisdom to persevere through the process of writing a thesis. It is with their help that I refused to give up when I could not see a light at the end of the tunnel.

When I could not see my own academic potential, professors at the College of Justice, Safety, and Military Science could. There are too many to name who positively impacted my life; however, I want to give special credit to Dr. Michael Land, my first academic advisor, Dr. Victoria Collins, Dr. Terry Cox, and Dr. Mike Collier who specifically encouraged me to pursue higher education beyond a baccalaureate degree.

I want to thank my committee chair, Dr. James Wells, and my committee members, Dr. Betsy Matthews, and Dr. Kristie Blevins, for their guidance throughout my academic career and my thesis-writing journey. I could not have written this thesis without them.

### ABSTRACT

The opioid crisis has plagued the United States but disproportionately affects the oftenoverlooked Appalachian region. This area faces unique barriers preventing better access to quality Opioid Use Disorder (OUD) treatment facilities despite opioid-related deaths continuing to rise. An especially vulnerable population in this region are pregnant and postpartum women who face even more challenges acquiring proper drug treatment. Medically Assisted Treatment (MAT), also called Medications for Opioid Use Disorder (MOUD), is considered the standard of treatment for OUD and reduces the effects of NAS, yet it is heavily stigmatized and underutilized in populations who could benefit from the medication.

This study seeks to compare urban and rural attitudes towards MAT and the pregnant and postpartum women who use MAT to treat OUD. This study hypothesized that rural areas would show statistically higher levels of negative attitudes towards MAT and its clients. The following scales displayed statistically significant differences: Degree of Criticism Toward Drug Dependent Women, Degree of Negative Attitudes Toward Clients Using MAT, Degree of Positive Attitudes Toward Clients Using MAT, How Problematic Lack of Buy-In and Negative Views Are. Only one scale was not statistically significant: How Problematic Client-Specific Barriers Are. This study seeks to bridge the gap in the literature that overlooks rural areas in opioid research and hopes to increase awareness of a vulnerable population.

# Table of Contents

Prologue
Introduction
Literature Review
Effectiveness of MAT
Treatment for Women with OUD11
Barriers to Treatment
Lack of Treatment in Corrections
Negative Stigma Towards MAT
Opioid Crisis and Treatment Struggles in Appalachia
Addressing the Gap in Literature
Theory of Social Learning
Purpose of Current Study
Methodology
Study Sample
Data Collection
Measures
Limitations
Results
Degree of Criticism Toward Drug Dependent Women
Degree of Negative Attitudes Toward Clients Using MAT
Degree of Positive Attitudes Toward Clients Using MAT
How Problematic Lack of Buy-In and Negative Views Are
How Problematic Client-Specific Barriers Are
Discussion
Summary
References

# List of Tables

Table 1: Degree of Criticism Toward Drug Dependent Women	34
Table 2: Degree of Negative Attitudes Toward Clients Using MAT	36
Table 3: Degree of Positive Attitudes Toward Clients Using MAT	38
Table 4: How Problematic Lack of Buy-In and Negative Views Are	39
Table 5: How Problematic Client-Specific Barriers Are	41

Prologue

My nephews have already faced struggles that most people do not have to endure. The eldest needed surgery immediately the following birth due to a defect in his colon after his mother used drugs while pregnant. He spent several nights in the NICU while his mother and father went away to engage in drug activity. He also had an intellectual disability. The younger sibling had significant emotional problems and acted out quite frequently, especially after the boys were removed from their mother and father's home and left in the care of their abusive grandmother, who they called "mamaw." Their mother did well for a while after seeking treatment but eventually relapsed. The "treatment" she got was a bag of pills and left to her own devices with no counseling or observation from the practitioners. After her relapse, their mother left the small boys in a stranger's care while their parents did drugs. The youngest found and ingested a bottle of Vodka and almost died while in the stranger's care. Eventually, they were moved to different foster homes where the older child was treated with love, and the younger faced more abuse. Finally, they were moved to their aunt's house who dealt drugs from her home and verbally abused them. The two severely struggled when they learned of their mother's death, who had been discovered in a crack house in downtown Mt. Sterling.

The autopsy revealed that there was an elevated level of Tramadol, an opioid, in her system. Faced with this news, coupled with the consistent abuse, the youngest was subsequently sent to a mental health institution before he turned ten years old. The brothers were separated; the oldest went to another foster home while the youngest has spent much of his life in mental health facilities that try to help him with his severe emotional outbursts which make him too dangerous to be around family members. Ever

since the brothers were sent to foster homes, I have never seen my oldest nephew again. My youngest nephew was recently placed in the custody of my cousin who had us come visit when he settled in his new home. I thought it was likely that he would not remember Aunt Anna who helped his "grandma" (my mother) take care of him while his biological grandmother had custody of the two children. To my surprise, he did remember me and was very excited to see me, even laying his head on my shoulder when we sat down together before he had his birthday party. I felt a broken, yet full heart, knowing what all he had been through, and that he was finally with family again. However, he suffered a manic episode and destroyed a window and smashed the floor in a bout of rage, likely stemming from his troubled past. He is no longer with his family because they could not handle his violent episodes.

My stepsister, a former detoxification nurse who knew the effects of those drugs, became drug dependent because of severe adverse experiences. Rather than having a proper burial, she was cremated because of a lack of resources in the family. The grief from losing his daughter and never seeing his grandchildren again consumed my stepdad who passed away six months after my stepsister. We sold our trailer to afford his funeral because my dad could not afford life insurance, and we moved in with my grandmother. This is the true story of a family who has suffered and has been torn apart because a drugdependent mother was not able to receive adequate treatment for her drug addictions. My family's story is just one in thousands across the country.

#### Introduction

The problem of opioid addiction has grown exponentially in recent years in the United States. It is fostered in part by the growing numbers of opioid addictions and overdoses. It is now more likely that someone will die of an opioid overdose than a car accident (National Safety Council, 2017). As of 2017, an average of 91 people died per day from opioid-related deaths (Georgetown Behavioral Health Institute, 2018). From these numbers, it does not appear that this nationwide opioid crisis is slowing down. To make matters worse, Carfentanil has been found among decedents of overdose deaths in several states including Kentucky. It is the most powerful sub-type of fentanyl that is used as a tranquilizer for large animals and possesses 10,000 times the potency of morphine (Center for Disease Control and Prevention, 2018). Heroin is often laced with this substance and is killing unsuspecting users (Sanburn, 2016). Sanburn (2016) reported roughly 300 deaths in four states were caused by either Carfentanil or its less powerful and addictive counterpart, Fentanyl, between mid-August to mid-September-just one month. Since 2018, fentanyl-related deaths have already begun to exceed major causes of death including suicide, cancer, and automobile accidents. It has become a leading cause of death for people aged 18-45 years old, even surpassing COVID-19 deaths. In this age group, there were more fentanyl-related deaths than suicides in both April 2019 (23,556 to 21,195) and April 2020 (37,087 to 21,441); in April 2021, there were more fentanylrelated deaths (40,010) than COVID deaths (21,335) (Jacobson, 2021).

The opioid crisis is especially prevalent in rural Appalachia with prescription opioid abuse exceeding national averages (Moody, Satterwhite, & Bickel, 2017). Multiple factors may lead to substance abuse in rural areas including, but not limited to, low education, unemployment, poverty, isolation, and limited access to mental health facilities (Rural Health Information Hub, n.d.b). Monnat (2019) found that counties that rely on mining and other service sectors for economic growth have high exposure to prescription opioids, thus leading to disproportionate mortality rates. States which contain central Appalachia, including West Virginia, Virginia, Kentucky, Ohio, Tennessee, and North Carolina, are seeing the highest rates of use and overdoses of non-prescription opioids (Moody et al., 2017). Despite this fact, prescription opioids play a role in overdose deaths more than heroin and even synthetic opioids. Monnat and Rigg (2018) report that, of all overdose deaths in rural counties, 31 percent resulted from prescription opioids while synthetics accounted for 24 percent, and heroin 16 percent.

Medically Assisted Treatment (MAT), sometimes referred to as Medications for Opioid Use Disorder (MOUD), is a combination of drugs used to treat opioid dependency. MAT is known for its use in conjunction with counseling. Clayman, Salisbury-Afshar, DePatie, Ali, and Arnold (2020) state that the term MOUD is becoming more commonly used than the term MAT because of the medication's effectiveness on its own without the use of counseling. By calling it MOUD, the medication itself is the primary treatment of OUD and not an assistive treatment as the term MAT suggests. For this paper, I will use the acronym "MAT" since that term was used by the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA) who funded the grant that made this study possible.

In general, access to MAT is limited and underutilized in populations that would qualify for MAT (Hsu, 2016). This underutilized population includes pregnant women who do not have adequate access to MAT. Not only does MAT help mothers overcome their addictions, but it also helps their babies who suffer from NAS (Neonatal Abstinence Syndrome) have better outcomes while in the NICU (Newborn Intensive Care Unit) (Lund, Fischer, Welle-Strand, O'Grady, Debelak, Morrone, & Jones, 2013).

The rural areas of the United States face unique barriers preventing them from utilizing MAT; figuring out how to implement MAT programs in these areas requires a special understanding of this region. Physical barriers can include a lack of healthcare providers with training specific to MAT, and the lack of healthcare facilities to begin with (Moody et al., 2017). What few opioid drug centers exist could be several miles away from those who need the treatment (Sexton, Carlson, Leukefeld, & Booth, 2008). There is also a lack of public transportation in rural places, and patients drive an average of two or three times farther to gain medical treatment compared to their city-dwelling counterparts (Johnson, Mund, & Joudrey, 2018).

There are also contextual barriers that are specific to central Appalachia, including trust-building from non-locals and seeking treatment in areas with close-knit social networks mainly consisting of families who have lived in those places for several generations (Moody et al., 2017). Appalachian locals tend to keep their problems to themselves. Weisheit and Wells (1996) were outsiders to Appalachia and had to develop rapport with key stakeholders before they would divulge sensitive information, especially to outsiders. Even when treatment options are available, it is unlikely one will seek treatment because of their culture in rural areas. Since people keep problems to themselves and maintaining anonymity in a small town is relatively difficult, one may find it difficult to seek treatment, for fear that people will know about their issues (Weisheit & Wells, 1996).

Negative stigma surrounds MAT and those who use it (Sexton et al., 2008), and pregnant women are no exception (Lander, Marshalek, & Sullivan, 2016). The crux of the issue is that treatment providers are using an opioid to help one desist from using illicit opiates, such as heroin. In other words, the treatment drug is simply replacing the illicit drug. This belief, held by many non-medical practitioners, contradicts medical evidence supporting the efficacy of MAT. This line of reasoning, coupled with personal experiences and lack of education regarding MAT, is what drives local policies to decrease access to this kind of treatment (Hsu, 2016). There is even evidence that one of the drugs used for MAT, methadone, has even worse side effects than heroin itself (Bourgois & Schonberg, 2009). Nonetheless, there is sufficient evidence that MAT overall has decreased illicit drug dependency and even HIV-risky behaviors (Fullerton, Kim, Thomas, Lyman, Montejano, Dougherty, et al., 2014).

Opioid addiction and overdose are on the rise, and people who could benefit from MAT are not getting access to it whether through barriers created by stigma or living in rural geographical locations. If these barriers are not lifted, addictions and deaths could continue to rise. The purpose of this study is to show differences in attitudes towards pregnant and postpartum women with OUD who use MAT in rural vs urban areas in Appalachia. Stigma can influence policy-making decisions and motivation in clients to seek treatment. If there are significant differences in negative attitudes in rural areas, further efforts can be made to increase education in those areas on MAT's efficacy to decrease stigma and, therefore, potentially increase access to treatment.

The theory I am using to base my theoretical framework is Bandura's (1970) Theory of Social Learning. The crux of this theory is that people learn behaviors and

develop beliefs from those around them and through direct or indirect experiences. This theory can be used to explain the reason for the differences in negative attitudes towards MAT in rural regions compared to urban regions. I hypothesize that the rural region will have statistically significant higher scores than the urban region on the following measures: Degree of Criticism toward Drug Dependent Women and Degree of Negative Attitudes Toward Clients Using MAT because of the largely held conservative views regarding the character of people addicted to illicit substances and progressive treatments to help this population. I also hypothesize that the rural region will score lower in Degree of Positive Attitudes Toward Clients Using MAT, How Problematic Lack of Buy-In and Negative Views Are, and How Problematic Client-Specific Barriers Are because scoring higher on these scales displays higher levels of positive attitudes and higher education regarding the problems that people face who need treatment for drug dependence. The scope of this study will focus on comparing attitudes towards MAT for pregnant and postpartum women with OUD in rural and urban regions in the commonwealth of Kentucky.

# Literature Review

This thesis will highlight positivity toward MAT by demonstrating the effectiveness of MAT and its use for pregnant and non-pregnant women, including how the medication affects the unborn, and how criticism towards drug-dependent women is pervasive despite literature demonstrating the efficacy of MAT. Next, it will introduce literature regarding client-specific barriers to treatment ranging from intrinsic motivations to environmental factors such as resource allocation and treatment availability in correctional institutions. This thesis will also highlight the lack of buy-in of MAT and the resulting negative stigma towards both the treatment and those who utilize the treatment for their opioid use disorders (OUD), and how this stigma can influence barriers to treatment. Furthermore, the abundance of opioids in the Appalachian region and its potential causes will be explained, and how the opioid epidemic has severely impacted this vulnerable region. Finally, this thesis will highlight urban and rural differences in treatment access and the lack thereof, and how the lack of treatment access in rural Appalachia will perpetuate the opioid epidemic if no measures are taken to provide treatment options to those who would qualify for MAT in the region.

#### Effectiveness of MAT

Opioid Use Disorder (OUD) is considered a chronic illness in the medical community. Long-term care is widely preferred over short-term treatment since longterm care assists the addict in living a normal, healthy life rather than only treating the symptoms of addiction (McMillan, Lapham, & Lackey, 2008). Opioid Use Disorder is defined as the "inability to control or limit use, increased tolerance, physical dependence including withdrawal symptoms upon cessation, and continued use in the face of negative

consequences..." (Peeler, Fiscella, Terplan, & Sufrin, 2019, p. 5). OUD has been shown to improve with the use of pharmacotherapy or referred to as Medication-Assisted Treatment (MAT). MAT consists of various drugs such as methadone, buprenorphine, and naloxone, and have been constituted as the standard to effectively treat OUD (Albizu-García, Caraballo, Caraballo-Correa, Hernández-Viver, & Román-Badenas, 2012; Anstice, Strike, & Brands, 2009; Donny, Walsh, Bigelow, Eissenberg, & Stitzer, 2002; Hedrich, Alves, Farrell, Stöver, Møller, & Mayet, 2012; Hewell, Vasquez, & Rivkin, 2017; Johansson, Berglund, & Lindgren, 2007; Lund et al., 2013; McMillan et al., 2008; Mitchell, Willet, Monico, James, Rudes, Viglioni, Schwartz, Gordon, & Friedmann, 2016; Saxon, Yih-Ing, Woody, & Ling, 2013). The National Survey on Drug Use and Health (NSDUH) provided by SAMHSA estimated that 21.1 million people aged 12 and over were identified as needing treatment for substance abuse (roughly 626,000 were addicted to heroin), and only 3.8 million received any kind of treatment in 2016 (National Survey on Drug Use and Health, 2016). In 2004, a gender disparity in treatment was identified where women comprised only 30 percent of treatment admissions (MacMaster, 2013).

While MAT combined with psychosocial treatment may be empirically effective at reducing withdrawal symptoms (Hewell et al., 2017), some studies show how MAT can be ineffective for some. According to Donny et al. (2002), some clients will continue to abuse opioids while engaging in medically assisted treatment. The Drug Abuse Treatment Outcome Study conducted in 1997 by Hubbard, Craddock, Flynn, Anderson, and Etheridge, after a one-year follow-up, found that 27.8 percent of outpatient clients used heroin either daily or weekly who were prescribed methadone. However, methadone

is considered a standard replacement therapy, and it has multiple purposes for treatment. These include: a decrease in withdrawal symptoms, reduction in opiate cravings, treatment retention, reduced engagement in risky behavior and use of heroin, improved social interactions, decreased criminality, and improved overall physiological function and health (Donny et al., 2002; Hedrich et al., 2012; Hewell et al., 2017; Johansson et al., 2007).

The efficacy of MAT is clear, but there is scant literature with explicit focuses on whether it benefitted clients in urban or rural settings. Many sources omit geographical details altogether, but it can be inferred from the existing literature that the benefits of MAT are mostly studied in urban settings. For example, three major federal databases measure drug trends including: Community Epidemiological Work Groups (CEWG) by the National Institute of Drug Abuse (NIDA); the Arrestee Drug Abuse Monitoring Program (ADAM) by the National Institute of Justice (NIJ); and SAMHSA's Drug Abuse Warning Network (DAWN). The issue is these sites focus primarily, or sometimes exclusively, on urban and/or urban-suburban areas (MacMaster, 2013).

Fortunately, there is some literature that explicitly focuses on rural areas that attempt to raise awareness of the rural struggle to access MAT. When treatment is made available in rural areas, it does seem to benefit the clients. Two rural counties in Colorado pilot-tested MAT programs that resulted in significantly less drug use including opioids and alcohol, improved physical and mental health, and improved employment status in those who remained in treatment for six months (Amura, Sorrell, Weber, Alvarez, Beste, Hollins, & Cook, 2022). The following two studies by Logan, Lavoie, Zwick, Kunz, Bumgardner, and Molina (2019) and Rawson, Rieckmann, Cousins, McCann, and Pearce (2019) were conducted in rural areas of Hawaii and Vermont, respectively, and specifically focused on treatment options integrated into rural primary care facilities. The results found better treatment retention, improved mental health, minimal stigma, fewer treatment obstacles, and stronger relationships with prescribers. Unfortunately, these studies do not consider possible Appalachian-specific variables that may influence outcomes in treatment retention. Despite the geographical location, it seems that implementing OUD in rural communities shows promising results.

#### Treatment for Women with OUD

Generally, women are more likely to suffer from chronic pain and, therefore, are at a higher likelihood of being prescribed opioids for their pain (Peeler et al., 2019). To treat OUD in women, there are multiple factors to consider, including psychological as well as sociological factors, and the best evidence-based practice to treat OUD is MAT due to the coupling of behavioral and medicinal treatment. Interestingly, Albizu-García et al. (2012) found evidence that MAT was more effective for women when the treatment focused on issues with substance use disorders that were specific to women.

Diagnoses of OUD among pregnant women in the United States at the time of delivery have increased fourfold in the past ten years (Leiner, Cody, Mullins, Ramage, & Ostrach, 2021). Many complications can arise from substance use during pregnancy, including growth restriction during pregnancy, early delivery, decreased birth weight, smaller head circumference, and fetal death (Jones, O'Grady, Malfi, & Tuten, 2008). Many babies whose mothers with OUD during pregnancy may be diagnosed with Neonatal Abstinence Syndrome (NAS). Symptoms include blotchy coloring of the skin (mottling), diarrhea, excessive or high-pitched crying, excessive sucking, fever,

hyperactive reflexes, abnormally high muscle tone, irritability, poor feeding, increased breath rate, seizures, problems sleeping, abnormally slow weight gain, nasal congestion, sneezing, sweating, trembling (tremors), and vomiting (Medline Plus, 2019).

MAT is associated with positive in-hospital delivery and prenatal care; it is designed to prevent withdrawal symptoms, improve treatment retention, and decrease overdose or relapse risk. When used throughout pregnancy, MAT is appraised by the American Society of Addiction Medicine (ASAM), American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG), and the National Commission on Correctional Health Care (NCCHC) to be the best medicine to treat pregnant women with OUD (Peeler et al., 2019). Furthermore, the use of MAT can significantly reduce, or even eliminate, the costs accrued from NICU stays. The cost for one baby for one day in the NICU can cost at least \$3,500 (Muraskas & Parsi, 2008) whereas buprenorphine or methadone can cost approximately \$115 to \$126 per week (National Institute on Drug Abuse, 2021).

Despite studies demonstrating the efficacy of methadone, some even calling it the gold standard of treatment, studies show that buprenorphine is the superior form of medically assisted treatment for pregnant women. It has been shown that infants suffer from NAS for shorter periods when the mother has taken buprenorphine and, therefore, spend fewer days in the hospital. (National Institute on Drug Abuse, 2016; Lund et al., 2013). Although research has mainly focused on buprenorphine intake alone, it is common for buprenorphine and naloxone to be prescribed simultaneously because the ability to abuse buprenorphine decreases with naloxone added (Lund et al., 2013). Among mothers who took buprenorphine and naloxone combined, neonatal growth parameters were within normal limits including better head circumference, body weight

and length, and fewer days needed to treat NAS (Czerkes, Blacstone, & Pulvino, 2010; Metz, Jagsch, Ebner, Würzl, Pribasnig, Aschauer, and Fischer, 2011).

One article was found that highlighted MAT implementation among pregnant and postpartum women in rural and urban areas. The authors found significantly higher rates of polysubstance use and lower rates of treatment retention among urban women compared to rural women (Baewert, Jagsch, Winklbaur, Kaiser, Thau, Unger, Aschauer, Weninger, and Metz, 2012). In contrast, Jarlenski, Paul, and Krans (2020), who solely concentrated on polysubstance use trends among rural and urban pregnant women, found higher rates of polysubstance use among rural women, namely tobacco and amphetamines. Unfortunately, there was no data in this article regarding retention in treatment centers. This highlights the need for more data regarding this topic since what little literature exists is mixed.

Establishing the research supporting the efficacy of MAT is crucial in understanding the Level of Positivity Towards Clients Using MAT scale—the survey questions used to create this scale were drawn from research supporting the effectiveness of MAT. It is also essential to highlight opposite scales here, including Degree of Criticism Towards Drug Dependent Women and Degree of Negative Attitudes Towards Clients Using MAT; the set of questions used for these scales directly oppose research that supports the use of MAT for pregnant women with OUD. These three scales tap into the aforementioned research.

#### Barriers to Treatment

The effectiveness of MAT has been established—it aids in recovery for many individuals to overcome their withdrawal symptoms, helps them remain in treatment, and

improves overall health. However, many barriers can prevent potential clients from gaining the treatment they need to overcome their addiction(s). Identified barriers include, but are not limited to: stigma, mis-attunement to client needs (such as a lack of gender-specific services); financial cost of treatment and income levels; cultural assumptions regarding treatment; allocation of resources; co-occurring illnesses; waiting lists; lack of transportation; dosage options; a program's treatment philosophy; and whether counseling is available and if patient-provider relationships are positive or not (Anstice et al., 2009; Fox, Jakubowski, & Giftos, 2019; Hewell et al., 2017; MacMaster, 2013; Witte, Jaiswal, Mumba, and Mugoya, 2021). These barriers heavily influence treatment-seeking behaviors in those who could benefit from treatment.

Psychological factors play a role in affecting treatment-seeking behaviors, such as whether one is mentally ready for treatment or not, and intrinsic motivation to seek treatment (MacMaster, 2013). For example, clients themselves can have mixed feelings concerning methadone consumption under supervision, citing feelings of embarrassment, intrusive, and demeaning while other clients believe they need the supervision to ensure they will comply with treatment (Anstice et al., 2009). Another element affecting intrinsic motivations are co-occurring mental disorders. It is common for many people with SUDs to meet the criteria of having a mental disorder (Albizu-García et al., 2012; Logan et al., 2019; National Institute of Drug Abuse, 2020). Unfortunately, people with SUDs and co-occurring mental disorders are more likely to be homeless, impoverished, incarcerated, unemployed, or have HIV (Hudson-Ferguson, 2014), making mental health treatment crucial while treating the SUD simultaneously (National Institute on Drug Abuse, 2020).

Pregnant women with OUD face a specific barrier to treatment—fear of Social Service involvement once they seek treatment for OUD. This fact rings true in Leiner et al.'s study (2021) which specifically focused on pregnant women in rural Appalachia. The authors found that these women assumed their infants would be removed from their care—not because of the substance abuse, but the treatment for their substance abuse. Substance use during pregnancy in the US is criminalized, and it is required to be reported if one is using illicit substances during pregnancy. Unfortunately, this deters patience from seeking prenatal care and substance use treatment (Leiner et al., 2021).

Even clinicians face barriers when providing MAT during pregnancies. Child Abuse Prevention and Treatment Act (CAPTA) laws are confusing to interpret by providers because there are no specific regulations as to which cases require a simple notification or a complete formal report which could remove an infant from the parent as soon as it is born. The lack of clarity in these laws also influences hospitals to create their own reporting criteria, often without including referrals to providers who can offer support to families (Leiner et al., 2021).

Policymakers need to allocate resources that will support microsystems from the bottom-up and foster positive intrinsic motivations in the individual. Policies could provide funding for rural areas, or any geographic location affected by the opioid crisis, or even create policies that would allow individual treatment programs to decide their own treatment options, including how many patients that provider will serve, instead of the requirement to meet federal standards. Furthermore, treatment providers can take this information and begin to focus on individual strengths which would serve as facilitators to recovery (Hewell et al., 2017). Leiner et al., (2021) call for more education for clients

and providers surrounding the involvement of Social Services so there is more clarity on what to expect at the time of delivery if the mother is on MAT.

### Lack of Treatment in Corrections

Although the rhetoric surrounding OUD is becoming a public health issue, drug crimes are still heavily criminalized, and inmates within the United States criminal justice system are not receiving treatment for their addictions (Hedrich et al., 2012; McMillan et al., 2008; Mitchell et al., 2016; Wakeman & Rich, 2018). This is of great concern since inmates with OUD are disproportionately involved in the U.S. justice system and nearly half of U.S. state and federal prisoners meeting criteria for substance use disorders. MAT has FDA approval, the WHO advocates for its use in correctional facilities, other Westernized countries utilizes MAT in corrections, and there are long-term benefits from decreased opioid use, and recidivism rates are reduced (Albizu-García, et al., 2012; Csete, 2019; McMillan et al., 2008; National Institute on Drug Abuse, 2018). Nationally, less than 20 percent of people with OUD in correctional facilities receive treatment, but even fewer inmates in rural areas receive treatment largely because of a lack of availability in the area (Staton, Webster, Leukefeld, Tillson, Marks, Oser, Bush, Fanucchi, Fallin-Bennett, Garner, McCollister, Johnson, and Winston, 2021).

In Kentucky, incarceration of women has increased by at least 30 percent largely due to opioid-related offenses (Staton et al., 2021). According to Peeler et al. (2019), women who are incarcerated in federal or state correctional facilities make up the most vulnerable segment of society, and they are subject to higher rates of mental illness, trauma, and drug abuse compared to incarcerated men. Although few women are

pregnant upon intake, they present a unique situation in correctional facilities because of special needs for their pregnancies, especially if drug use occurred during pregnancy.

Inmates face a high risk of overdose once released if their addiction is left untreated (Staton et al., 2021) and are twelve times more likely to die of an overdose within the first two weeks of release, but post-release deaths decrease when MAT is utilized (National Institute on Drug Abuse, 2018). Total or near-total abstinence-only decreases the body's tolerance towards the drug, making re-exposer more likely to cause an overdose (Csete, 2019; National Institute on Drug Abuse, 2018). Pregnant women who do not receive MAT and are subjected to conventional detoxification methods experience birth loss and preterm births with no real positive effects on their pregnancies or relapse rates (Peeler et al., 2019). When OUDs are left untreated during incarceration, it is more likely that the person with the OUD will return to the same stressful environment that initially caused their drug abuse and criminality, and will resume criminal activity and risky behaviors that could spread bloodborne diseases such as HIV, hepatitis B and C (National Institute on Drug Abuse, 2018; Wakeman & Rich, 2018).

During incarceration, clients suffered from painful withdrawal from methadone and feared using MAT. They feared using MAT because they did not want to develop an opioid tolerance or have the same painful withdrawals they experienced during incarceration. Fox, Maradiaga, Weiss, Sanches, Starrels, and Cunningham (2015) believe changing policies in the criminal justice system will improve clients' views toward using MAT since the current common method of treatment is forced detoxification.

Even if an individual is under community supervision, they may face many of the same problems as those who are incarcerated. Regardless of a parole or probation agent's

attitudes towards MAT, they are bound by forces outside of their control regarding MAT referrals, including mandates by judges with little knowledge of MAT and addiction, department guidelines, and agreements with assessment agencies or specialized units (Mitchell et al., 2016).

Despite these problems existing, there is hope. There have been court cases involving the forced withdrawal from opioids and refusal to administer MAT in correctional settings to people who needed treatment or were already receiving treatment prior to incarceration. Plaintiffs in those cases argued that their 8<sup>th</sup> amendment and ADA rights were violated due to the severity of withdrawal symptoms and OUD being classified generally as a disability. Each case yielded successful outcomes where the correctional facilities were required to update their policies to provide MAT (Marton, 2019). In Kentucky, the KY Department of Corrections (DOC) received a grant in 2019 through the Kentucky Opioid Response Effort (KORE) to include buprenorphine at select pilot locations (Department of Corrections, n.d.). There is also group called the Kentucky Justice Community Opioid Innovation Network (JCOIN) that seeks to provide MAT to women in corrections, particularly in jails who are re-entering society, in urban and rural areas (Staton et al., 2021). This shows promise rural residents, especially women, are becoming the focus of more studies and MAT services are being written into more policies.

### Negative Stigma Towards MAT

"Let them die. They chose to take those drugs, so why should I have to save them?" These are words I heard a law enforcement officer say on a ride-along for my internship. This statement reflects how strongly stigma has permeated into the minds of

those working in a field intended to help its citizens. Conner and Rosen (2008) define stigmatization as "an element of suffering accompanying the experience of having a condition that is devalued in society[.]" (p. 245). Stigma, which is built from perceptions, attitudes, and beliefs, allows society to place a mark on someone which dehumanizes them, preventing full acceptance into that society. This correlates with increased internalized stigma, lower self-esteem, isolation, less adaptation to society, even higher levels of substance abuse, and decreased likelihood to seek help (Conner & Rosen, 2008; Witte et al., 2021). One of the most pervasive barriers to help-seeking behaviors is stigma, unsurprisingly—people who have mental health issues and substance use disorders are highly negatively represented in media, leading to their rejection and discrimination in society (Conner & Rosen, 2008). Stigma is not only placed upon the person using the medication for their substance use disorder but the medication itself is stigmatized by society. This can influence MAT candidates' willingness to try the medication, including pregnant women with OUD (Leiner et al., 2021).

Places that are disproportionately affected by opioid addictions seemingly have higher levels of stigma. In rural Indiana, 69 percent of surveyed adults took prescription opioid drugs in ways not prescribed, whereas in metro counties, this number is 40 percent. Respondents in rural counties state that getting treatment for addiction would make someone an outsider in the community and cause loss of friendships and opportunities in that community. In rural Indiana, this stigma has led to a lack of harm reduction and MAT programs compared to urban counties, and there is even active pushback against MAT programs specifically (Indiana University, n.d.).

Four elements exist that influence stigma toward drug abuse and its treatment, including 1) the belief that addiction is a choice instead of a treatable disease; 2) lack of association with addiction treatment in conventional medical facilities; 3) terminology associated with addiction (such as medically *assisted* treatment rather than the notion that MAT is the treatment itself); 4) and the lack of medical approaches used in criminal justice systems toward people with SUDs. Criminal justice officials' aversion to MAT is rooted in politics and moral opposition stemming from unfounded ideas that MAT introduces drugs into correctional settings, decreases deterrent effects, and increases recidivism (McMillan et al., 2008). Furthermore, criminal justice officials' views can stem from confirmation bias based on successes or failures they see from those who utilize MAT (Mitchell et al., 2016).

Even the medical system stigmatizes those on MAT by refusing to care for anyone on those medications (Wakeman & Rich, 2018). Using terms such as "substance abuser" can affect a practitioner's willingness to support treatment for OUD, compared to referring to the client as someone with a "substance use disorder"—even terms like "dirty" urine were recorded in medical records (Logan et al., 2019, p. 953). Van Boekel, Brouwers, van Weeghel, and Garretsen (2021) found negative attitudes towards clients with SUDs among healthcare providers who perceived the clients as violent, manipulative, and lacking in motivation. These attitudes reduced the quality of healthcare the patients received. The power of stigma has reached so far as recovery programs themselves; although patients can have protections from the Americans with Disabilities Act and Fair Housing Act, they are still rejected from outpatient and residential substance

abuse clinics if they are on MAT due to "philosophical incompatibility" with the clinic (Logan et al., 2019, p. 958).

Having a personal relationship with someone who is addicted can decrease stigma. Unfortunately, if the relationship has been strained and has created a burden for the non-addicted person, stigma will unfortunately persist. It is key to establish meaningful and positive relationships with people who are stigmatized to mitigate the effects of stigma (Indiana University, n.d.).

Witte et al., (2021) call for higher levels of public education regarding MAT that target potential root causes of stigma towards MAT. The authors identify possible reasons for the stigma, including misunderstanding of agonist medications, viewing methadone as a substitute or quick fix instead of legitimate treatment, or the stigma towards MAT is a byproduct of stigma towards drug-using behaviors. If more citizens, providers, and MAT candidates are not educated, MAT will inevitably become less widely available to those who could benefit from the treatment (Witte et al., 2021). One area specifically that finds itself especially lacking in crucial MAT education and viable treatment options for OUD (Moody et al., 2017), yet could benefit the most from the treatment, is Rural Appalachia. Thankfully, Kentucky has launched a public health campaign called Unshame KY that aims to spread awareness about OUD and reduce addiction-related stigma throughout the state (Unshame KY, n.d.). This provides hope that the state will receive the education about OUD it desperately needs to reduce stigma.

The literature regarding barriers to treatment unsurprisingly coincides with the How Problematic Client Specific Barriers Are scale, but also relates to Degree of Criticism Towards Drug Dependent Women, Degree of Negative Attitudes Towards

Clients Using MAT, and How Problematic Lack of Buy-in and Negative Views Are. As highlighted in the literature, there are multiple causes for barriers including negative views towards MAT itself and those who could utilize the medicine and the clear lack of buy-in towards MAT that is likely caused by skewed beliefs fueled by stigma. These scales will measure whether respondents even know if barriers to treatment or lack of buy-in to MAT exist in their area. Furthermore, these scales will examine how critical respondents themselves are towards MAT and clients who use it, which is a barrier to treatment itself, as shown in the literature.

Opioid Crisis and Treatment Struggles in Appalachia

Central Appalachia is home to trades that require much physical labor, like mining and logging. The more physical laborers who abide in an area, the greater the need for pain medication, making Central Appalachia more prone to issues with chronic pain and injuries occurring in the workplace (Keyes, Cerdá, Brady, Havens, & Galea, 2014; Moody et al, 2017). Interestingly, rural populations contain more elderly people than urban areas, thereby contributing to the overall greater need for pain medication than urban areas. This wide availability of opioid prescriptions could open avenues for more illegal markets, and it is possible that close kinship in rural areas could lead to wider drug distribution which influences social capital (Keyes et al., 2014).

Furthermore, the absence of economic opportunity due to shifting demands from manufacturing and low-wage jobs to high-skilled work has fueled poverty and unemployment that can likely influence drug abuse. This economic downturn is not felt as harshly in urban areas with wider job markets (Keyes et al., 2014). Although opioid prescription rates have declined recently, states including West Virginia, Kentucky, Ohio,

and Pennsylvania are still seeing prescription rates that exceed the national average and result in opiate-related deaths (Soergel, 2018).

FDA-approved painkillers such as Vicodin, OxyContin, and Percocet were marketed in places like Appalachia because pharmaceutical companies knew there would be high demand for the drugs, and there was little regulation regarding marketing patterns around these prescription painkillers. Combining unregulated marketing, high rates of chronic pain and injuries, more elderly populations, little opportunity for economic growth, and little public health education about the risks associated with taking opioid medication, Central Appalachia became a hotbed for readily accessible prescription opioids and, consequently, the abuse of these drugs (Keyes et al., 2014; Moody et al, 2017).

The problem with overly prescribed opioids in the Appalachian region is so bad that a special task force was created to tackle the problem, appropriately named the Appalachian Region Prescription Opioid (ARPO) strike force (United States Department of Justice, 2019). Doctors prescribe opioids far too often, and many times for personal financial gain—when a doctor prescribes an opioid, they gain a certain sum of money for every prescription. The following stories are two headline examples of the lengths that doctors will go to gain profit and the resulting catastrophes.

Dr. Katherine Hoover prescribed an excess of 300,000 opioid prescriptions in Williamson, WV, bordering just north of South Williamson, KY, and was blamed for the opioid crisis that began in Williamson. When she knew that the federal government was on her trail, she fled to the Bahamas. Unfortunately, she was never prosecuted (Siemaszko, 2018). In South Shore, Kentucky, Dr. David Proctor was known as the

Godfather of the Pill Mill who would give opioid prescriptions with no official diagnosis. He was eventually prosecuted and spent eleven years in prison while his large mansion is now being used to house recovering patients from their addictions (James, 2016).

In 2019, there were at least 73 others who were prosecuted for overly prescribing opioids in the Appalachian region, 64 of them being medical professionals, including several physicians. An April takedown by the ARPO strike force resulted in the guilty pleas of seven physicians, and eleven physicians were charged from a September takedown. It is estimated that, between April and September of 2019, more than 23 million pills were illegally distributed (United States Department of Justice, 2019). In 2020, two doctors in Eastern Kentucky were sentenced to prison resulting from efforts of the ARPO strike force (United States Department of Justice, 2021).

It is difficult for rural residents to gain access to treatment, despite the overwhelming need for treatment in rural areas (Amura et al., 2022; MacMaster, 2013). The US-South has reported some of the highest prescription rates of opioids for women and high rates of OUD despite having significantly less access to MAT (Leiner et al., 2021). According to an opioid overdose map by the National Opinion Research Center (NORC) (n.d.) at the University of Chicago, over half of Kentucky's Appalachian counties alone have an overdose death rate of 35 to 60 per 100,000 county residents. Overdose rates in eight Kentucky counties are 60 and over per 100,000 residents. The problem is even direr in West Virginia and southern parts of Ohio. It is important to note that most of these counties are considered rural and do not contain metropolitan regions.

Rural America experiences unique barriers in dealing with substance use disorders, one of the most prominent includes long distances to find treatment. Some

MAT candidates must drive 30 miles or travel for over an hour just to find MAT treatment centers, an issue that many urban MAT clients do not face (Amura et al., 2022; Kiang, Barnett, Wakeman, Humphreys, and Tsai, 2021).

Other barriers include mental health care and drug treatment being too complicated to navigate, a shortage of facilities and personnel, no interagency coordination and communication, insufficient capacity in rural hospitals to treat SUDs, no harm reduction programs, stigma among family and communities, little anonymity, lack of trust in health professionals, inescapable poverty from lack of education and other opportunities for economic growth, and little to no insurance coverage of these treatments (Leiner et al., 2021; Moody et al., 2017; Monnat & Rigg, 2018; Rural Health Information Hub, n.d.a.). Pregnant women with OUD in rural areas especially suffer from a lack of insurance—most of this impoverished population relies on public insurance programs that may end abruptly after pregnancy (depending on the state), meaning that treatment for their OUD only lasts through pregnancy and ends after the delivery (Leiner et al., 2021). Logan et al. (2019) state that "[t]he need for services greatly outweighs treatment availability, and integrating care and initiating evidence-based programs remains challenging in clinical settings. While patients struggle with accessing specialized services, providers in rural communities face parallel challenges in obtaining specialized training, mentoring opportunities, and ancillary support services." (p. 958).

Measures tapping into the rural struggle to access treatment include How Problematic Client Specific Barriers Are scale, Degree of Negative Attitudes Towards Clients Using MAT, and How Problematic Lack of Buy-in and Negative Views Are. Negative views towards clients who could use MAT has become problematic with the

opioid epidemic in Appalachia, and over prescription of medications by doctors has not decreased negative views by any means. It would make sense that medical professionals partially fueling the opioid epidemic themselves could cause a lack of buy-in and increased negative views towards MAT and those who could utilize the treatment. Addressing the Gap in Literature

What we can gather from the literature presented here is the stigma toward MAT is strong, it is underutilized in populations who could benefit from treatment, it does not contribute to criminal activity as some might imagine, and rural populations are especially suffering from barriers to receiving treatment. Despite the vast discourse surrounding MAT, this thesis covers a subject lacking in the literature, namely stigma toward pregnant and postpartum women with OUD in Appalachia. Only two authors were found who specifically focus on women with OUD in rural Appalachia: Leiner et al. (2021), studied fears among pregnant women with OUD in southern Appalachia, and Staton et al. (2021) focused on implementing a trial program to improve access to MAT for women with OUD in urban and rural Kentucky jails—this program is still in its trial phase and no data exists of its effectiveness yet.

The literature is clear that stigma exists toward clients receiving MAT—little is known about why the stigma exists, although authors postulate that it largely stems from lack of education (Witte et al., 2021). There is little literature specifically focusing on stigma in rural areas, although particularly strong stigma towards pregnant women with OUD has been identified in at least one study (Leiner et al., 2021), and differences in rural culture in Kentucky compared to urban areas are documented in at least two studies (Moody et al., 2017; Weisheit & Wells, 1996). Furthermore, there is a problem with the

lack of education in rural Appalachia (Moody et al., 2017). As we will see in Bandura's Social Learning Theory, people from different occupational and cultural backgrounds across many regions will have vastly different experiences and have access to many different levels of education which could potentially affect how attitudes, whether negative or positive, are formed. The combination of lack of education and possession of a different culture compared to other geographical locations can likely explain the negative stigma towards pregnant women with OUDs that was identified in Leiner et al.'s (2021) study.

# Theory of Social Learning

Albert Bandura's (1970) Social Learning Theory can explain the independent variables I have chosen to measure in this study. Bandura posits that humans do not develop behaviors from inward desires and drives alone—he posited that the complexity of human society had influenced how people behaved differently in certain social settings with certain people at certain times. Humans can learn through direct experiences, either having experiences themselves or learning through watching others' behaviors (typically ones with whom a person associates themselves and will learn from the most) and observing the consequences that inevitably proceed with said behaviors. We can formulate symbolic meanings from our observations and make decisions on how to regulate our future behaviors—when one places value on certain desirable outcomes, he or she will mold their behavior to attain those outcomes.

In a nation with a diverse, complex society containing various mores, folkways, politics, religious practices, and educational levels, it becomes clear that desired outcomes from performing certain behaviors can highly become dependent on one's

geographical location in which they reside. Even in a nation that can culturally differ drastically geographically, Bandura states that television captures audiences' attention so effectively, we begin to model our behavior after some televised figures regardless of whether there is an extra incentive to behave a certain way or not if we feel that the figure possesses desirable attributes. I would argue, roughly fifty years after Bandura wrote this piece, that media influence has become drastically more influential in nearly everyone's lives with the rise of social media outlets such as Facebook and Twitter. Everywhere we look, something is trying to influence how we think. It would make sense that humans can develop certain attitudes towards anything, including attitudes towards something like MAT, depending on your region of origin, your workplace, and education level. Purpose of Current Study

Kentucky is a predominantly rural state that has been particularly affected by the opioid epidemic, especially in those counties located in the Appalachian region. It is more likely that Kentucky residents in the Appalachian region will die from an opioid overdose than in central and western counties (Estep, 2018). According to overdose data by the National Opinion Research Center (n.d.) at the University of Chicago, many of the areas affected by the opioid crisis are in Central Appalachia, including southern Ohio, southern West Virginia, and Eastern Kentucky. Noting the intensity of the opioid crisis in this region, the current study has chosen to focus on Kentucky.

There is bountiful literature discussing stigma towards MAT and clients with OUD. Unfortunately, the literature is scant when comparing attitudes towards specifically pregnant women with OUDs in urban and rural areas—just one article (Leiner et al., 2021) mentions rural stigma towards pregnant women. The primary objective of this

study seeks to fill this gap in the literature to focus on differences in rural attitudes toward pregnant and postpartum women.

The treatment centers at the focus of our study, and to whom the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA) allocated grant funds, are the Bluegrass Pregnancy and Addiction Network located in Lexington (the urban location), and the Independence House located in Corbin (the rural location). The dependent variables in this study include Degree of Criticism Toward Drug Dependent Women, Degree of Negative Attitudes Toward Clients Using MAT, Degree of Positive Attitudes Toward Clients Using MAT, How Problematic Lack of Buy-In and Negative Views Are, and How Problematic Client-Specific Barriers Are. The independent variable is whether the region is rural or urban.

I hypothesize that there will be significant differences between the urban and rural regions on scales measuring attitudes toward MAT, and the rural region will display higher levels of negativity and criticism. I hope this study will increase awareness of negative attitudes towards MAT and mitigate the effects of stigma, leading to better OUD treatment access everywhere, especially in rural areas.

#### Methodology

SAMSHA launched the initiative Supporting Mothers to Achieve Recovery through Treatment and Supports (SMARTS) in 2015. This initiative sought to sought to pave the way for policy development that would lead to the implementation of evidencebased practices and provide accessible MAT for pregnant and postpartum mothers who needed treatment for OUD and co-occurring mental health disorders in two vulnerable regions of Kentucky: the Cumberland Region and the Bluegrass Region. There were a series of Comprehensive Opioid Response with the 12 steps (COR-12) training sessions for health care professionals and community members on the effectiveness of MAT. The assumption before conducting this research was that education levels during COR-12 training on the use of MAT would increase the level of positivity towards MAT and towards the women with OUD. Over three years, we used a mixed-methods approach using both qualitative and quantitative data to measure attitudes towards MAT. However, the focus of this current study is only on quantitative measures.

#### Study Sample

There were six regions from which data was collected, and those six regions were categorized as rural or urban. Pikeville and Cumberland are defined as rural, and Bluegrass, Frankfort, and Richmond are defined as urban. Respondent types included members of the health care profession, licensed and non-licensed substance treatment providers, community-based services, members of a criminal justice organization, faithbased organization, concerned citizen, volunteer, clients, and others. Some surveys had more information for certain respondent types—health care providers took the generic

survey, stakeholders of the grant took the stakeholder survey, and general community members took the community survey, the simplest of the three survey types.

# Data Collection

Baseline (PRE) data were collected at in-person COR-12 training sessions and treatment facilities during focus groups via paper surveys. Each attendee wrote their name and email on a sign-in sheet for us to send them the follow-up survey. The paper surveys contained no personally identifying information, therefore the participants' identities remained anonymous from the survey they took. After everyone was seated, the primary investigator gave verbal instructions on how to fill out the survey if they opted into taking it voluntarily. Once surveys were completed, they were given to the graduate assistant assigned to the primary investigator during the grant. The responses were then recorded into SPSS, and the paper surveys were organized by date, location, and respondent type in a locked filing cabinet.

Follow-up (POST) survey data were collected via email anonymously on SurveyMonkey. There were written instructions included in the email on how to fill out the online survey. Reminder emails were automatically sent weekly for six weeks to respondents who had not completed the survey. Once surveys were completed, the results were accessible online and could be downloaded into SPSS excluding any personally identifying information; e-mails were not associated with any of the responses. Exceptions to these identifiers, however, were the respondent type and area they took the baseline survey.

Measures

The Cumberland Region and Pikeville are measured as rural while Richmond, Frankfort, and Bluegrass are urban. Whether an area is urban or rural is our only independent variable. The following dependent variables were measured on five-point Likert scales (1 = strongly disagree/not a problem at all to 5 = strongly agree/big problem) Degree of Criticism Toward Drug Dependent Women, Degree of Negative Attitudes Toward Clients Using MAT, Degree of Positive Attitudes Toward Clients Using MAT, How Problematic Lack of Buy-In and Negative Views Are, and How Problematic Client-Specific Barriers Are. The null hypothesis posits that there are no statistically significant differences in the level of MAT negativity between urban and rural regions.

# Limitations

A limitation of this study is the low follow-up response rate from the participants. Of the 836 respondents who took the initial survey, only 22.5 percent took the follow-up survey. Many factors could have played into this low number including bounced emails likely from worker turnover during the three years of our study, our emails being filtered into spam folders (this occurred frequently during a trial period of sending test emails from SurveyMonkey), and the possibility that our email was not seen because a secure link may have been required for certain employees. Results

Factor analysis and reliability measures (Cronbach's alpha) were conducted to establish the reliability and validity of the items and scales used in the survey; these analyses were completed prior to this thesis. There is a total of five scales in this study. Independent group t-tests were run to measure the significance between the independent variable and dependent variables. Using an alpha of .01, the five t-tests were run with a Bonferroni adjusted alpha level of .002; the statistical significance of each scale did not change after running the Bonferroni correction. Cronbach's alpha reliability values were overall very high for all except one scale: Degree of Criticism Toward Drug Dependent Women with a minimally acceptable  $\alpha = .69$ . The remaining scales displayed higher reliability values as follows: Degree of Negative Attitudes Toward Clients Using MAT ( $\alpha$ = .88), Degree of Positive Attitudes Toward Clients Using MAT ( $\alpha$  = .73), How Problematic Lack of Buy-In and Negative Views Are ( $\alpha$  = .89), and How Problematic Client-Specific Barriers Are ( $\alpha$  = .93).

Of the six regions, the survey data is comprised of 44.3 percent urban (N=375) and 55.7 percent rural (449) respondents (total N=806). As of 2020, rural residents comprise nearly 41 percent of Kentucky's 4,505,836 total residents (U.S. Department of Agriculture Economic Research Service, 2022).

Degree of Criticism Toward Drug Dependent Women

Using a five-point Likert scale ranging from "strongly disagree" (1) to "strongly agree," (5) we asked respondents to indicate their level of agreement with various statements about the Degree of Criticism Toward Drug Dependent Women. The scale was comprised of six survey items which can be seen below in table 1 (Q20 through

Q25). Percentages of response distributions are located to the right of each survey item,

proceeded by the total number (N) of respondents who answered that question, the

average (mean) response, and the standard deviation of that item. Because Q20, Q24, and

Q25 were worded positively, they were recoded for accurate analysis.

Table 1: Degree of Criticism Toward Drug Dependent Women

Item	Factor Loading	1 = Strongly Disagree	2 = Disagree	3 = Neutral	4 = Agree	5 = Strongly Agree	Z	Mean	Standard Deviation
Q20 = Drug addiction is a treatable illness.	.65	60.1	32.1	6.0	1.0	0.8	784	1.50	0.724
Q21 = A drug dependent woman who has relapsed several times probably cannot be treated.	.61	55.9	31.8	7.3	3.2	1.7	803	1.63	0.886
Q22 = Drug dependent women are unpleasant to work with as patients.	.61	25.1	26.2	40.1	6.7	1.9	802	2.34	0.987
Q23 = Drug dependent women cannot be helped until they have hit "rock bottom."	.59	42.3	35.9	15.1	5.1	1.6	802	1.88	0.954
Q24 = I am supportive and nonjudgmental about pregnant and postpartum women with opioid and other substance use disorders.	.60	35.0	32.8	19.9	8.4	4.0	801	2.14	1.107
Q25 = I believe in practices and policies that are designed to reduce stigma, minimize barriers, and improve access to services and outcomes for pregnant and postpartum women with opioid and other substance use									
disorders.	.61	63.0	28.4	5.4	1.6	1.6	803	1.50	0.806

According to analysis, when all survey items on the Degree of Criticism Toward Drug Dependent Women scale are averaged, the respondents' composite score is 1.83 (between "strongly disagree" and "disagree"). An independent-samples t-test was conducted to compare the Degree of Criticism Toward Drug Dependent Women in urban and rural regions. There is a statistically significant difference in the scores between urban (M=1.71, SD=.58) and rural (M=1.93, SD=.56) regions; t(803)=-5.4, p=.000. The rural region's composite score of 1.93 is greater than the average score (1.83) and the urban region's composite score (1.71), indicating a higher Degree of Criticism Towards Drug Dependent Women. As previously indicated, the Cronbach's alpha for this scale is minimally acceptable ( $\alpha = .69$ ).

Degree of Negative Attitudes Toward Clients Using MAT

Using a five-point Likert scale ranging from "strongly disagree" (1) to "strongly agree," (5) we asked respondents to indicate their level of agreement with various statements about the Degree of Negative Attitudes Toward Clients Using MAT. The scale was comprised of thirteen survey items which can be seen below in table 2 (Q26-31, Q33, Q35-36, Q38-40, and Q45). Percentages of response distributions are located to the right of each survey item, proceeded by the total number (N) of respondents who answered that question, the average (mean) response, and the standard deviation of that item.

	Factor Loading	l = Strongly Disagree	2 = Disagree	3 = Neutral	4 = Agree	5 = Strongly Agree	Z	Mean	Standard Deviation
Item									
Q26 = Medication-assisted treatment increases accidental opioid overdoses.	.47	18.6	28.7	33.3	15.1	4.3	800	2.58	1.084
Q27 = Medication-assisted treatment is used by opioid dependents to get high.	.70	10.8	25.3	37.7	21.8	4.5	799	2.84	1.028
Q28 = Medication-assisted treatment worsens the opioid epidemic.	.82	24.5	30.6	30.8	12.0	2.1	800	2.37	1.044
Q29 = Addicts use medication-assisted treatment to sample it.	.70	18.8	27.1	41.4	10.9	2.0	801	2.51	0.980
Q30 = Medication-assisted treatment discourages seeking professional help.	.70	25.1	39.3	24.8	8.3	2.5	797	2.24	1.000
Q31 = Medication-assisted treatment is used for self-treatment.	.56	14.6	21.9	36.3	22.9	4.3	800	2.84	1.518
Q33 = Medication-assisted treatment is used if clients cannot get drug of choice.	.71	16.3	29.1	31.5	19.3	3.9	800	2.65	1.082
Q35 = Medication-assisted treatment is used because it is cheaper than treatment.	.62	19.3	29.9	39.7	8.7	2.4	796	2.45	0.976
Q36 = Most addicts have tried medication-assisted treatment before.	.54	13.5	27.4	44.0	12.6	2.5	800	2.63	0.952
Q38 = Clients use medication-assisted treatment to network for better access to	72	17.2	20.7	20.0	11.7	15	708	2 50	0.059
Q39 = Medication-assisted treatment is	.75	17.2	29.6	39.0	16.0	1.5	200	2.50	1.110
Q40 = Clients that use medication- assisted treatment seem to have more physical problems and issues with	./4	15.9	28.0	32.4	16.9	0.3	800	2.69	1.110
detoxification.	.63	14.3	28.5	43.8	11.0	2.4	797	2.59	0.945
Q45 = The most effective way to treat opioid dependency is through an abstinence-based program.	.49	8.6	18.1	49.3	18.8	5.1	799	2.94	0.958

Table 2: Degree of Negative Attitudes Toward Clients Using MAT

According to the analysis, when all survey items on the Degree of Negative Attitudes Toward Clients Using MAT scale are averaged, the respondents' composite score is 2.59 (between "disagree" and "neutral"). An independent-samples t-test was conducted to compare the Degree of Negative Attitudes Toward Clients Using MAT in urban and rural regions. There is a statistically significant difference in the scores between urban (M=2.37, SD=.63) and rural (M=2.78, SD=.65) regions; t(803)=-9.1, p=.000. The rural region's composite score of 2.78 is greater than the average score (2.59) and the urban region's composite score (2.37), indicating a higher Degree of Negative Attitudes Towards Clients Using MAT. As previously indicated, the Cronbach's alpha for this scale is relatively high ( $\alpha$  = .88). Degree of Positive Attitudes Toward Clients Using MAT

Using a five-point Likert scale ranging from "strongly disagree" (1) to "strongly agree," (5) we asked respondents to indicate their level of agreement with various statements about the Degree of Positive Attitudes Toward Clients Using MAT. The scale was comprised of seven survey items which can be seen below in table 3 (Q32, Q34, Q37, and Q41-44). Percentages of response distributions are located to the right of each survey item, proceeded by the total number (N) of respondents who answered that question, the average (mean) response, and the standard deviation of that item.

Item	Factor Loading	1 = Strongly Disagree	2 = Disagree	3 = Neutral	4 = Agree	5 = Strongly Agree	Z	Mean	Standard Deviation
Q32 = Medication-assisted treatment is used to prevent withdrawal.	.26	2.9	8.5	20.7	52.3	15.6	799	3.69	0.932
Q34 = Medication-assisted treatment helps clients engage in recovery.	.71	0.9	5.8	19.5	50.1	23.8	799	3.90	0.856
Q37 = Clients need medication-assisted treatment to avoid cravings and other suffering that causes issues in treatment. Q41 = Medication-assisted treatment clients are easier to track toward abstinence	.61	2.5	8.9	28.2	47.8	<u>12.6</u>	800	3.16	0.907
Q42 = Medication-assisted treatment is less likely to be abused.	.56	8.0	27.0	36.9	24.0	4.0	799	2.89	0.990
Q43 = Medication-assisted treatment offers a sense of normalcy to clients physically in a safe and monitored way.	.75	1.5	5.2	27.6	50.5	15.2	802	3.73	0.836
Q44 = The most effective way to treat opioid dependency is through medication- assisted treatment.	.73	4.4	12.8	50.4	27.1	5.4	800	3.16	0.873

Table 3: Degree of Positive Attitudes Toward Clients Using MAT

According to analysis, when all survey items on the Degree of Positive Attitudes Toward Drug Dependent Women scale are averaged, the respondents' composite score is 3.46 (between "neutral" and "agree"). An independent-samples t-test was conducted to compare the Degree of Positive Attitudes Toward Clients Using MAT in urban and rural regions. There is a statistically significant difference in the scores between urban (M=3.58, SD=.52) and rural (M=3.36, SD=.55) regions; t(803)=5.7, p=.000. The urban region's composite score of 3.58 is greater than the average score (3.46) and the rural region's composite score (3.36), indicating a higher Degree of Positive Attitudes Toward Clients Using MAT. As previously indicated, the Cronbach's alpha for this scale is relatively high ( $\alpha = .73$ ).

How Problematic Lack of Buy-In and Negative Views Are

Using a five-point Likert scale ranging from "not a problem at all" (1) to "very big problem," (5) we asked respondents to indicate their level of agreement with various statements about How Problematic Lack of Buy-in and Negative Views are. The scale was comprised of seven survey items which can be seen below in table 4 (Q47 through Q53). Percentages of response distributions are located to the right of each survey item, proceeded by the total number (N) of respondents who answered that question, the average (mean) response, and the standard deviation of that item.

Table 4: How Problematic Lack of Buy-In and Negative Views Are

Item	Factor Loading	1 = Not a Problem at All	2 = Minor Problem	3 = Moderate Problem	4 = Big Problem	5 = Very Big Problem	N	Mean	Standard Deviation
Q47 = Lack of community awareness.	.80	5.5	7.3	22.8	35.3	29.2	798	3.75	1.116
Q48 = Lack of community buy-in.	.75	4.4	6.5	19.3	36.8	33.0	798	3.87	1.079
Q49 = Lack of buy-in from health care providers.	.82	9.3	11.8	33.6	31.2	14.1	797	3.29	1.132
Q50 = Lack of buy-in from substance									
abuse treatment providers.	.68	13.0	21.4	28.1	27.5	10.1	795	3.00	1.188
Q51 = Lack of buy-in from support									
services.	.86	9.9	14.7	34.1	28.2	13.0	797	3.20	1.145
Q52 = Lack of buy-in from others (please	65	24.2	7 1	20.6	20.4	10.0	100	2.02	1 412
specify).	.65	24.2	/.1	29.6	20.4	18.8	496	3.02	1.413
Q53 = Negative views of medicated-	00	47	6.0	20.2	27.0	20.4	702	2.02	1.000
assisted treatment.	.80	4./	6.8	20.3	37.8	30.4	/93	3.82	1.082

According to analysis, when all survey items on the How Problematic Lack of Buy-in and Negative Views Are scale are averaged, the respondents' composite score is 3.46 (between "moderate problem" and "big problem"). An independent-samples t-test was conducted to compare How Problematic the Lack of Buy-in and Negative Views Are in urban and rural regions. There is a significant difference in the scores between urban (M=3.58, SD=.84) and rural (M=3.36, SD=.89) regions; t(798)=3.5, p=.000. The urban region's composite score of 3.58 is greater than the average score (3.46) and the rural region's composite score (3.36), indicating higher levels of agreement with How Problematic Lack of Buy-in and Negative Views Are. As previously indicated, the Cronbach's alpha for this scale is relatively high ( $\alpha = .89$ ).

### How Problematic Client-Specific Barriers Are

Using a five-point Likert scale ranging from "not a problem at all" (1) to "very big problem," (5) we asked respondents to indicate their level of agreement with various statements about How Problematic Client-Specific Barriers Are. The scale was comprised of four survey items which can be seen below in table 5 (Q54 through Q57). Percentages of response distributions are located to the right of each survey item, proceeded by the total number (N) of respondents who answered that question, the average (mean) response, and the standard deviation of that item.

Item	Factor Loading	1 = Not a Problem at All	2 = Minor Problem	3 = Moderate Problem	4 = Big Problem	5 = Very Big Problem	Z	Mean	Standard Deviation
Q54 = Clients having transportation issues.	.92	5.0	6.8	20.9	33.2	34.2	799	3.85	1.118
Q55 = Clients having housing issues.	.95	5.1	5.4	21.5	37.8	30.2	797	3.83	1.080
Q56 = Clients having child care issues.	.94	5.1	5.3	19.1	38.8	31.7	799	3.87	1.079
Q57 = Clients lacking family support.	.89	4.4	3.9	14.9	38.8	38.0	797	4.02	1.040

|--|

According to analysis, when all survey items on the How Problematic Client-Specific Barriers Are scale are averaged, the respondents' composite score is 3.89 (between "moderate problem" and "big problem"). An independent-samples t-test was conducted to compare How Problematic Client-Specific Barriers Are in urban and rural regions. There is not a significant difference in the scores between urban (M=3.94, SD=.92) and rural (M=3.85, SD=1.02) regions; t(797)=1.3, p=.205. The urban region's composite score of 3.94 is greater than the average score (3.89) and the rural region's composite score (3.85). Although it cannot be said with a significant degree of certainty, these numbers indicate higher levels of agreement with How Problematic Client-Specific Barriers Are in the urban region. As previously indicated, the Cronbach's alpha for this scale is relatively high ( $\alpha$  = .93).

#### Discussion

As expected, results indicated that the null hypothesis should be rejected—there are significant differences between the urban and rural regions on scales concerning attitudes toward MAT, specifically regarding levels of criticism and MAT negativity. Rural regions displayed significantly higher levels of criticism and negativity while the urban region showed greater levels of positivity toward MAT and indicated higher levels of agreement that lack of buy-in regarding the use of MAT is problematic. There were no statistically significant differences between the two regions on how problematic clientspecific barriers are.

Degree of Criticism Toward Drug Dependent Women (p<.001) lines up well with Leiner et al.'s 2021 study regarding stigma specifically toward pregnant women with OUDs in rural Appalachia. We see bountiful literature looking at the Degree of Negative Attitudes Toward Clients Using MAT (p<.001) where criminal justice officials (McMillan et al., 2008; Mitchell et al., 2016) and healthcare providers (Logan et al., 2019; Van Boekel et al., 2021; Wakeman & Rich, 2018) negatively view MAT and those on using the medication. Although there is not specific literature regarding the Degree of Positive Attitudes Toward Clients Using MAT (p<.001), multiple organizations such as the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG) and the National Commission on Correctional Health Care (NCCHC) view MAT to be the best medicine to treat pregnant women with OUD (Peeler et al., 2019). Furthermore, Logan et al. (2019) and Rawson et al. (2019) both found decreased stigma and improved mental health in patients when treatment options for OUD were integrated into rural primary care settings. We can see in the literature How Problematic Lack of Buy-in and Negative Views Are

(p<.001), especially in rural Indiana where there is pushback from community members who do not want MAT programs in their communities (Indiana University, n.d.). This can also be seen in community corrections where various criminal justice professionals refuse to allow the use of MAT (Mitchell et al., 2016).

Bandura's Social Learning Theory offers logical explanations that satisfy these results. Per the literature and survey responses, there is a lack of education on MAT, its efficacy, and the clients who can benefit from MAT, and this lack of education is largely what drives the controversy surrounding MAT. This lack of education can stem from many causes including, but not limited to, isolation (especially in rural areas); beliefs about addiction; and lack of resources for treatment (Hsu, 2016; Moody et al., 2017; Witte et al., 2021).

These barriers all heavily affect rural regions which further facilitates negative stigma towards MAT. Referencing Bandura, people learn societal norms through experiences either themselves or by observing others, seeing the consequences of those behaviors, and through television and arguably social media. Noting the heavy impact of illicit opioids in the Appalachian region, little funds for valid treatment centers, and overly prescribed opioids, it is easy to see how these factors promulgate personal or indirect negative experiences, generating negative attitudes towards MAT as reflected in the results.

Regarding the "How Problematic Client-Specific Barriers Are" scale, there were no significant differences between the urban and rural regions—this can be explained. There are problematic client barriers in both urban and rural settings, even though these barriers might look differently depending on the geographic location. Despite the

differences in what the barriers might look like, they still prevent potential candidates from gaining access to MAT who could greatly benefit from the medication and the accompanying mental health treatment. Furthermore, it is possible that respondents could be thinking of these barriers in a more general sense that affect most of the population, not just pregnant and postpartum women with OUD.

The analyses in this thesis provide evidence that negative attitudes towards MAT are prevalent in rural Appalachia; the implications of this evidence could lead to the knowledge that overwhelming work is required to reduce stigma through increased education of what OUDs are and how MAT can help overcome addiction, especially for pregnant and postpartum women. This research sheds light on a highly problematic yet overlooked issue and can be used to concentrate efforts in areas that desperately need policy changes to open more avenues for effective OUD treatment options.

Due to the low follow-up rate from respondents following the COR-12 trainings, this study cannot confirm with statistical significance that education improved negative views of MAT in either rural or urban areas of Appalachia. Had more respondents filled out follow-up surveys regarding their attitudes towards MAT, the findings could have added crucial discourse regarding education and stigma of MAT in rural and urban Appalachia. Furthermore, this study focused on pregnant and postpartum women with OUD and cannot be generalized to include attitudes towards all clients who use MAT. Further research is recommended on this topic to quantify whether battling stigma with education would benefit Appalachia and include more client types.

Summary

This thesis attempted to answer the question of whether rural areas of the Appalachian region held higher levels of negative attitudes towards MAT and those who utilize the medicine to treat OUD, specifically pregnant and postpartum women, and the short answer is yes. Findings displayed statistically significant differences between urban and rural areas (p<0.001) in all scales except for one, How Problematic Client Specific Barriers Are. While this thesis cannot identify the cause for these differences, it can speculate why these differences exist. Based on the current literature, the most logical explanation for these differences is that education levels and cultural beliefs based on inaccurate representations of MAT likely influence negative attitudes toward pregnant and postpartum women with OUD who use MAT, and MAT itself. This is highly problematic as prescription and illicit opioid abuse have disproportionately taken their toll in rural Appalachia that contain some of the highest rates of opioid prescriptions and deaths compared to the whole nation. This comes as no surprise given the demand for painkillers, the lack of access to healthcare facilities, poverty, isolation, and the barriers that come with living in a rural geographical location (Amura et al., 2022; Keyes et al., 2014; Leiner et al., 2021; Moody et al., 2017).

There are many barriers preventing populations who could benefit from MAT from accessing treatment, but Appalachia faces many unique infrastructural, economic, social, and educational barriers unique to the area. Per the findings of this study, it is evident that negative attitudes are especially prevalent in rural areas compared to urban areas. It can be speculated that part of this stigma stems from a lack of education on the

efficacy of MAT. Unfortunately, these are speculations based on literature and are not measured in this study.

Many people, including treatment providers, criminal justice professionals, and other citizens, dangerously view MAT as substituting one drug for another, despite the evidence supporting the efficacy of the medicine to prevent severe withdrawal symptoms (Hewell et al., 2017), decrease the severity of NAS in babies born to women with OUD (Lund et al., 2013), and overall being considered the best treatment for pregnant women with OUD (Peeler et al., 2019). If nothing is done to increase education about MAT and the people who could benefit from it, negative attitudes could continue to perpetuate the opioid epidemic and lead to unnecessary deaths resulting from untreated OUD. Future studies should explore predictors of these negative attitudes and whether increasing education on MAT and clients using MAT would help reduce this stigma or not. Furthermore, it is evident that mothers are fearful of seeking treatment due to CPS involvement; it is crucial to create policies that would alleviate this fear so mothers will seek treatment and break the cycle of addiction for their children. Additionally, it is vital to establish more MAT-specific clinits, or that MAT is offered in general clinics to increase access in highly rural areas without adequate transportation. Lastly, MAT needs to be covered by insurance so mothers and many others can afford treatment so their suffering will end.

#### References

Albizu-García, C. E., Caraballo, J. N., Caraballo-Correa, G., Hernández-Viver, A., &
Román-Badenas, L. (2012). Assessing need for medication-assisted treatment for
opiate-dependent prison inmates. *Substance Abuse*, *33*(1), 60-69.
doi:10.1080/08897077.2011.620462

Amura, C. R., Sorrell, T. R., Weber, M., Alvarez, A., Beste, N., Hollins, U., & Cook, P.
F. (2022). Outcomes from the medication-assisted treatment pilot program for adults with opioid use disorders in rural Colorado. *Substance Abuse Treatment, Prevention & Policy*, *17*(1), 1–11. <u>https://doi-</u>

org.libproxy.eku.edu/10.1186/s13011-021-00424-4

- Anstice, S., Strike, C. J., & Brands, B. (2009). Supervised methadone consumption:
  Client issues and stigma. *Substance Use & Misuse*, 44(6), 794-808.
  doi:10.1080/10826080802483936.
- Baewert, A., Jagsch, R., Winklbaur, B., Kaiser, G., Thau, K., Unger, A., Aschauer, C., Weninger, M., & Metz, V. (2012). Influence of Site Differences between Urban and Rural American and Central European Opioid-Dependent Pregnant Women and Neonatal Outcome Characteristics. *European Addiction Research*, 18(3), 130–139. https://www.jstor.org/stable/26790604
- Bandura, A. (1970). Social Learning Theory. Stanford University. <u>https://web.archive.org/web/20131024214846/http://www.jku.at/org/content/e545</u> <u>21/e54528/e54529/e178059/Bandura\_SocialLearningTheory\_ger.pdf</u>
- Bourgois, P., & Schonberg, J. (2009). *Righteous Dopefiend*. Berkeley and Los Angeles, California: University of California Press.

Center for Disease Control and Prevention (2018). *Notes from the field:* overdose deaths with carfentanil and other fentanyl analogs detected — 10 states, July 2016–June 2017. Retrieved from <u>https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/67/wr/mm6727a4.htm</u>

Clayman, M., Salisbury-Afshar, E., DePatie, H., Ali, M., & Arnold, J. (2020).

Assessment of Medications for Opioid Use Disorder (MOUD) treatment and related services in Marion County, Indiana. *American Institutes for Research*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.rmff.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/20200305-</u> Opioids-AIRTreatmentLandscapeAssessment-FinalReport-1.pdf

Conner, K., & Rosen, D. (2008). "You're Nothing But a Junkie": Multiple experiences of stigma in an aging methadone maintenance population. *Journal of Social Work Practice in the Addictions*, 8(2), 244–264. <u>https://doi-</u>

org.libproxy.eku.edu/10.1080/15332560802157065

Csete, J. (2019). Criminal justice barriers to treatment of Opioid Use Disorders in the United States: The need for public health advocacy. *American Journal of Public Health*, 109(3), 419–422. <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2018.304852</u>

 Czerkes, M., Blacstone, J., & Pulvino, J. (2010). Buprenorphine versus methadone treatment for opiate addiction in pregnancy: An evaluation of neonatal outcomes. *The American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists: Papers on Current Clinical and Basic Investigation.*

Department of Corrections (n.d.). SAMAT. Retrieved from

https://corrections.ky.gov/Divisions/ask/Pages/SAMAT.aspx

Donny, E. C., Walsh, S. L., Bigelow, G. E., Eissenberg, T., & Stitzer, M. L. (2002). High-dose methadone produces superior opioid blockade and comparable withdrawal suppression to lower doses in opioid-dependent humans.

Psychopharmacology, 161(2), 202.

- Estep, B. (2018). Where we die from drug overdoses has changed dramatically in Kentucky. Retrieved from <u>https://www.kentuckynewera.com/news/ap/article\_523c809a-d2fd-11e8-af7f-</u> 07a01e1503e5.html
- Fox, A. D., Jakubowski, A. U., & Giftos, J. (2019). Enhancing treatment access and effectiveness: Toward patient-centered models of care. *Treating Opioid Addiction* 197-222. Retrieved from: <u>https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-3-030-16257-3</u> 10.
- Fox, A. D., Maradiaga, J., Weiss, L., Sanches, J., Starrels, J. L., & Cunningham, C. O. (2015). Release from incarceration, relapse to opioid use and the potential for buprenorphine maintenance treatment: a qualitative study of the perceptions of former inmates with opioid use disorder. *Addiction Science & Clinical Practice 10*(2). Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.1186/s13722-014-0023-0.
- Fullerton, C. A., Kim, M., Thomas, C. P., Lyman, D. R., Montejano, L. B., Dougherty, R. H., Daniels, A. S., Ghose, S. S., & Delphin-Rittmon, M. E. (2014). Medication-assisted treatment with methadone: Assessing the evidence. *Psychiatric Services*, 65(2), 146-157.
- Georgetown Behavioral Health Institute (2018). The origin and causes of the opioid epidemic. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.georgetownbehavioral.com/node/2013">https://www.georgetownbehavioral.com/node/2013</a>

- Hedrich, D., Alves, P., Farrell, M., Stöver, H., Møller, L., & Mayet, S. (2012). The effectiveness of opioid maintenance treatment in prison settings: A systematic review. *Addiction*, 107(3), 501-517. doi:10.1111/j.1360-0443.2011.03676.
- Hewell, V. M., Vasquez, A. R., & Rivkin, D. (2017). Systemic and individual factors in the buprenorphine treatment-seeking process: A qualitative study. *Substance Abuse Treatment, Prevention, and Policy, 12*, 1-10.

Hsu, A. (2016). Treating opioid addiction with a drug raises hope and controversy. *National Public Radio*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.npr.org/sections/health-shots/2016/05/17/478387232/treating-opioid-addiction-with-a-drug-raises-hope-and-controversy</u>

- Hubbard, R. L., Craddock, S. G., Flynn, P. M., Anderson, J., & Etheridge, R. M. (1997).Overview of 1-year follow-up outcomes in the drug abuse treatment outcome study (DATOS). *Psychol Addict Behav, 11*, 261–278.
- Hudson-Ferguson, N. (2014). Treatment and recovery facilitators and barriers for
   Medicaid recipients with co-occurring disorders. Phoenix: ProQuest Dissertations
   Publishing. Retrieved from

https://search.proquest.com/openview/e8ed2040102040ccd6e6b3375c438cfe/1?cb

<u>l=18750&diss=y&pq-origsite=gscholar</u>.

- Indiana University (n.d.). Stigma around substance use disorder higher in rural areas, new IU study finds. Retrieved from <u>https://addictions.iu.edu/news/stigma-rural-</u> <u>urban.html</u>
- James, M. (2016). Recovery Works shows off new digs; estate built with dirty money will help addicts get clean. Retrieved from

https://www.dailyindependent.com/news/recovery-works-shows-off-new-digsestate-built-with-dirty-money-will-help-addicts-get/article\_8ca9ff78-3372-11e6bf3d-f73769bd3990.html

- Jacobson, L. (2021). Fact check: Is fentanyl overdose the number one cause of death for Americans ages 18 to 45? *Austin American-Statesman*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.statesman.com/story/news/politics/politifact/2021/12/28/fact-check-how-many-people-died-fentanyl-overdoes-2020/9027045002/</u>
- Johansson, B. A., Berglund, M., & Lindgren, A. (2007). Efficacy of maintenance treatment with methadone for opioid dependence: A meta-analytical study. *Nordic Journal of Psychiatry*, 61(4), 288-295. doi:10.1080/0803948070141525
- Johnson, Q., Mund, B., & Joudrey, P. J. (2018). Improving rural access to opioid treatment programs. *Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics*, 46(2), 437–439. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1073110518782951</u>
- Jones, H. E., O'Grady, K. E., Malfi, D., & Tuten, M. (2008). Methadone maintenance vs. methadone taper during pregnancy: Maternal and neonatal outcomes. *American Journal on Addictions*, 17(5), 372-386. doi:10.1080/10550490802266276
- Jarlenski, M. P., Paul, N. C., & Krans, E. E. (2020). Polysubstance use among pregnant women with Opioid Use Disorder in the United States, 2007-2016. Obstetrics & Gynecology, 136(3), 556–564. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7483798/

Keyes, K. M., Cerdá, M., Brady, J. E., Havens, J. R., & Galea, S. (2014). Understanding the rural–urban differences in nonmedical prescription opioid use and abuse in the

United States. *American Journal of Public Health 104*(2): e52–e59. doi: <u>10.2105/AJPH.2013.301709</u>

Kiang, M. V., Barnett, M. L., Wakeman, S. E., Humphreys, K., & Tsai, A. C. (2021).
 Robustness of estimated access to opioid use disorder treatment providers in rural vs. urban areas of the United States. *Drug & Alcohol Dependence*, 228, N.PAG.
 <u>https://doi-org.libproxy.eku.edu/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2021.109081</u>

Kids Health (n.d.). What is the apgar score? Kids Health.

http://kidshealth.org/en/parents/apgar.html

Lander, L. R., Marshalek, P., & Sullivan, C. R. (2016). Medication-assisted treatment for pregnant women: An interdisciplinary group based model. *Journal of Groups in Addiction & Recovery*, 11(3), 182–193.

https://doi.org/10.1080/1556035X.2016.1185987 Retrieved from

https://libproxy.eku.edu/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct =true&AuthType=ip&db=asn&AN=118888367&site=ehost-live&scope=site

- Leiner, C., Cody, T., Mullins, N., Ramage, M., & Ostrach, B. M. M. (2021). "The elephant in the room;" a qualitative study of perinatal fears in opioid use disorder treatment in Southern Appalachia. *BMC Pregnancy & Childbirth*, 21(1), 1–12. <u>https://doi-org.libproxy.eku.edu/10.1186/s12884-021-03596-w</u>
- Logan, D. E., Lavoie, A. M., Zwick, W. R., Kunz, K., Bumgardner, M. A., & Molina, Y. (2019). Integrating addiction medicine into rural primary care: Strategies and initial outcomes. *Journal of Consulting & Clinical Psychology*, 87(10), 952–961. Retrieved from

https://libproxy.eku.edu/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct =true&AuthType=ip,uid&db=edo&AN=138819351&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Lund, I. O., Fischer, G., Welle-Strand, G. K., O'Grady, K. E., Debelak, K., Morrone, W. R., & Jones, H. E. (2013). A comparison of buprenorphine + naloxone to buprenorphine and methadone in the treatment of opioid dependence during pregnancy: Maternal and neonatal outcomes. *Substance Abuse: Research and Treatment*, 7, 61-74.
- MacMaster, S. (2013). Perceptions of need, service use, and barriers to service access among female methamphetamine users in rural Appalachia. *Social Work in Public Health*, 28(2), 109–118. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19371918.2011.560820</u> Retrieved from

http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip,shib&db=a9h

&AN=85901394&site=ehost-live&scope=site&authtype=shib&custid=s8356098

- Marton, A (2019). *Recent court actions impacting the substance use disorder field* [PowerPoint slides]. Legal Action Center. Retrieved from <u>https://nasadad.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/6.6.19-Recent-Court-Actions-Impacting-SUD-Field.pdf</u>
- McMillan, G. P., Lapham, S., & Lackey, M. (2008). The effect of a jail methadone maintenance therapy (MMT) program on inmate recidivism. *Addiction*, 103(12), 2017-2023. doi:10.1111/j.1360-0443.2008.02361.
- Medline Plus (2019). Neonatal abstinence syndrome. *Medicine Plus*. Retrieved from https://medlineplus.gov/ency/article/007313.htm
- Metz, V., Jagsch, R., Ebner, N., Würzl, J., Pribasnig, A., Aschauer, C., & Fischer, G. (2011). Impact of treatment approach on maternal and neonatal outcome in

pregnant opioid-maintained women. *Human Psychopharmacology: Clinical & Experimental*, 26(6), 412–421. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hup.1224</u>

- Mitchell, S. G., Willet, J., Monico, L. B., James, A., Rudes, D. S., Viglioni, J., Schwartz, R. P, Gordon, M. S., & Friedmann, P. D. (2016). Community correctional agents' views of medication-assisted treatment: Examining their influence on treatment referrals and community supervision practices. *Substance Abuse*, *37*(1), 127-133. doi:10.1080/08897077.2015.1129389
- Monnat, S. M. (2019). The contributions of socioeconomic and opioid supply factors to geographic variation in U. S. drug mortality rates. *Working Papers*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.ineteconomics.org/uploads/papers/Monnat-WP-87.pdf</u>
- Monnat, S. M. & Rigg, K. K. (2018). The opioid crisis in rural and small town America. *Carsey Review 135*. Retrieved from

https://scholars.unh.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1342&context=carsey

Moody, L., Satterwhite, E., & Bickel, W. K. (2017). Substance use in rural central Appalachia: Current status and treatment considerations. *Rural Ment Health*, *41*(2), 123-135. doi:<u>10.1037/rmh0000064</u> Retrieved from <a href="https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5648074/">https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5648074/</a>

- Muraskas, J., & Parsi, K. (2008). The cost of saving the tiniest lives: NICUs versus prevention. AMA Journal of Ethics. Retrieved from <a href="https://journalofethics.ama-assn.org/article/cost-saving-tiniest-lives-nicus-versus-prevention/2008-10">https://journalofethics.ama-assn.org/article/cost-saving-tiniest-lives-nicus-versus-prevention/2008-10</a>
- National Institute on Drug Abuse (2016). Effective treatments for opioid addiction. Retrieved from <u>https://www.drugabuse.gov/publications/effective-treatments-opioid-addiction/effective-treatments-opioid-addiction</u>

National Institute on Drug Abuse (2018). Medications to treat Opioid Use Disorder. Retrieved from <u>https://www.drugabuse.gov/publications/medications-to-treat-opioid-addiction/how-opioid-use-disorder-treated-in-criminal-justice-system</u>

National Institute on Drug Abuse (2020). Common comorbidities with substance use disorders research report part 1: The connection between substance use disorders and mental illness. Retrieved from

https://www.drugabuse.gov/publications/research-reports/common-comorbiditiessubstance-use-disorders/part-1-connection-between-substance-use-disordersmental-illness

National Institute on Drug Abuse (2021). How much does opioid treatment cost? Retrieved from <u>https://nida.nih.gov/publications/research-reports/medications-to-treat-opioid-addiction/how-much-does-opioid-treatment-cost</u>

National Opinion Research Center (n.d.). Overdose deaths in Appalachia. Retrieved from <a href="https://overdosemappingtool.norc.org/">https://overdosemappingtool.norc.org/</a>

National Safety Council (2017). Odds of dying. Retrieved from

https://injuryfacts.nsc.org/all-injuries/preventable-death-overview/odds-of-dying/

National Survey on Drug Use and Health (2016). Key substance use and mental health indicators in the United States: Results from the 2016 national survey on drug use and health. Retrieved from

https://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/NSDUH-FFR1-2016/NSDUH-

<u>FFR1-2016.pdf</u>

- Peeler, M., Fiscella, K., Terplan, M., & Sufrin, C. (2019). Best practices for pregnant incarcerated women with opioid use disorder. *Journal of Correctional Health Care*, 25(1), 4-14.
- Rawson, R. A., Rieckmann, T., Cousins, S., McCann, M., & Pearce, R. (2019). Patient perceptions of treatment with medication treatment for opioid use disorder (MOUD) in the Vermont hub-and-spoke system. *Preventive Medicine*, *128*. https://doi-org.libproxy.eku.edu/10.1016/j.ypmed.2019.105785
- Rural Health Information Hub (n.d.a) Barriers to preventing and treating substance use disorders in rural communities. Retrieved from

https://www.ruralhealthinfo.org/toolkits/substance-abuse/1/barriers

- Rural Health Information Hub (n.d.b). Substance use and misuse in rural areas. Retrieved from https://www.ruralhealthinfo.org/topics/substance-abuse
- Sanburn, J. (2016). Heroin is being laced with a terrifying new substance: What to know about Carfentanil. *Time Magazine*. Retrieved from <u>http://time.com/4485792/heroin-carfentanil-drugs-ohio/</u>
- Saxon, A. J., Yih-Ing, H., Woody, G., & Ling, W. (2013). Medication-assisted treatment for opioid addiction: Methadone and buprenorphine. *Journal of Food & Drug Analysis*, 21s69-s72. doi:10.1016/j.jfda.2013.09.037

Sexton, R. L., Carlson, R. G., Leukefeld, C. G., & Booth, B. M. (2008). Barriers to formal drug abuse treatment in the rural south: A preliminary ethnographic assessment. *Journal of Psychoactive Drugs*, 40(2), 121–129. https://doi.org/10.1080/02791072.2008.10400621 Retrieved from http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip,shib&db=a9h &AN=33803802&site=ehost-live&scope=site&authtype=shib&custid=s8356098

- Siemaszko, C. (2018). Dr. Katherine Hoover, accused of fueling West Virginia's opioid crisis, still thinks she didn't do anything wrong. Retrieved from <u>https://www.nbcnews.com/news/us-news/dr-katherine-hoover-accused-fueling-</u> <u>west-virginia-s-opioid-crisis-n909366</u>
- Soergel, A. (2018). Opioid overdoses elevated in Appalachia. U.S. News. Retrieved from https://www.usnews.com/news/best-states/articles/2018-06-11/opioid-overdoseselevated-in-appalachia
- Staton, M., Webster, J. M., Leukefeld, C., Tillson, M., Marks, K., Oser, C., Bush, H. M., Fanucchi, L., Fallin-Bennett, A., Garner, B. R., McCollister, K., Johnson, S., & Winston, E. (2021). Kentucky Women's Justice Community Opioid Innovation Network (JCOIN): A type 1 effectiveness-implementation hybrid trial to increase utilization of medications for opioid use disorder among justice-involved women. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, *128*, N.PAG. <u>https://doi-org.libproxy.eku.edu/10.1016/j.jsat.2021.108284</u>
- The United States Department of Justice (2019). Second Appalachian Region Prescription Opioid Strikeforce takedown results in charges against 13 individuals, including 11 physicians. <u>https://www.justice.gov/opa/pr/second-appalachian-region-prescription-opioid-strikeforce-takedown-results-charges-against-13</u>
- The United States Department of Justice (2021). Pending criminal division cases. <u>https://www.justice.gov/criminal-vns/case/ARPO/update</u>

U.S. Department of Agriculture Economic Research Service (2022). Population, income, food insecurity, education, and employment. Retrieved from <u>https://data.ers.usda.gov/reports.aspx?StateFIPS=21&StateName=Kentucky&ID=</u> <u>17854</u>

Unshame KY (n.d.). Unshame KY. Retrieved from https://unshameky.org/

Van Boekel, L. C., Brouwers, E. P. M., van Weeghel, J., & Garretsen, H. F. L. (2021).
Stigma among health professionals towards patients with substance use disorders and its consequences for healthcare delivery: Systematic Review. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, *50*(1-2), 23-35. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2013.02.018

- Wakeman, S. E., & Rich, J. D. (2018). Barriers to Medications for Addiction Treatment: How Stigma Kills. Substance Use & Misuse, 53(2), 330–333. Retrieved from: <u>https://libproxy.eku.edu/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct</u> <u>=true&AuthType=ip&db=a9h&AN=127161560&site=ehost-live&scope=site</u>
- Weisheit, R. A., & Wells, L. E. (1996). Rural crime and Justice: Implications for theory and research. *Crime & Delinquency*, 42(3), 379-397.
- Witte, T. H., Jaiswal, J., Mumba, M. N., & Mugoya, C. T. (2021). Stigma surrounding the use of Medically Assisted Treatment for Opioid Use Disorder. *Substance Use* & *Misuse*, 56(10), 1467-1475. Retrieved from <u>https://www.tandfonline.com/action/showCitFormats?doi=10.1080/10826084.202</u> <u>1.1936051</u>